IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY MASSEY,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC 07-776

ID06-3657

vs. Lower CASE NO. 1D06-3657

CALVIN F. DAVID,

Appellee.

APPELLANT AMENDED MASSEY'S INITIAL BRIEF

Joseph W. Little Co-counsel for Massey Fla. Bar No. 196749 3731 N.W. 13th Place Gainesville, Fl. 32605 352-273-0660

Robert C. Widman Co-counsel for Massey Fla. Bar No. 0170014 245 N. Tamiami Trail, Suite E Venice, Fl. 34285 941-484-0646

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Nature of Action. This is a legal malpractice action in which Massey sued his former attorney, David, and the law firm, Ruden, McClosky, Smith, Schuster and Russell, P.A. (Ruden), claiming negligence and breach of fiduciary duties in the handling of Massey's underlying toxic tort action against industrial companies Koppers and Cabot. (V1: 1-19.)¹ Massey's underlying action alleged that Koppers and Cabot emitted toxic pollutants that caused Massey to suffer severe

¹Record on Appeal; Companion Case 1D06-627.

neurological and mental injuries and extensive economic and non-economic damages. *Id*.

Against Massey's express and repeated objections, David negotiated a unwanted settlement of Massey's tort action against Koppers and Cabot and dismissed it shortly before trial was to commence on September 17, 1996. (App. 2.) Massey sued David and Ruden. (V1; 1-19.)² Massey's action against Ruden was dismissed and the district court affirmed. *Massey v. Ruden, McClosky, Smith, Schuster & Russell, P.A.*, 788 So.2d 967 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). Massey's action against David was also dismissed, but the district court reversed and remanded for trial. *Massey v. David*, 831 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

Upon David's motion, the trial judge bifurcated the action between liability and damages in an order that stated:

This cause coming on to be heard upon Defendant, CALVIN F. DAVID's Motion to Bifurcate Trial and the Court having heard argument of counsel finds that time and expenses will be saved in this matter by bifurcating the issue of the alleged negligence or *liability* on the part of the Defendant from issues of *damages* suffered by the Plaintiff.

WHEREFORE, IT IS ordered and adjudged that trial in this cause scheduled to commence the week of January 5, 2004 *will be solely on the issue of liability* on behalf of the Defendant.

(App. 3.) (Italics provided).

²Record on Appeal; Companion Case 1D06-627

The Phase I trial on *liability* was conducted and the Phase I jury returned this verdict:

We, the jury, return the following verdict:

Was there negligence on the part of the Defendant, Calvin F. David, which was a legal cause of damage to Plaintiff, Gary Massey?

Answer. yes.

Did Defendant, Calvin F. David, breach his fiduciary duty to Plaintiff, Gary Massey, *that resulted in damages* to Gary Massey?

Answer. yes.

(App. 4.) (Bold and italics supplied). To enforce this Phase I liability verdict,

Massey moved for a judgment for costs and fees and the trial court reserved ruling

upon it.

In violation of the bifurcation order and the Phase I verdict on liability, the trial judge required Massey to reprove *liability* in the Phase II trial instead of damages only. (App. 5.) Over Massey's objections, the trial judge withheld from the Phase II jury that this is a legal malpractice action; misled the jury to believe that it was trying a toxic tort action against non-parties Koppers and Cabot as defendants; and never informed the jury that David even exists much less that he is the actual defendant. (App. 5.) Massey made a motion for directed verdict as to liability, which the trial court denied. (App. 6.) The Phase II jury returned a

verdict in favor of non-parties Koppers and Cabot but returned no verdict for or against David. (App. 7.) Over Massey's objections, the trial judge entered a judgment of no liability for David on the merits and denied Massey's post-trial motions. Massey appealed and the district court affirmed without opinion in a *per curiam* decision. *Massey v. David*, 952 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007).

David filed a motion to tax costs (V1:18-200; V2:201-276) and Massey renewed his motion for fees and costs to enforce the Phase I liability verdict. (V1:15-17; V2:277-355; 368-400; V3:401-444; 459-458.) David's cost motion included massive expert witness fees that were not authorized by §57.071(2) Fla. Stat. Because Estate of Cort v. Broward County Sheriff, 807 So.2d 736 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), had declared §57.071(2) to be unconstitutional and no other authority existed, the trial court was bound to ignore the statute. Against Massey's objections (V2:356-367; V3:445-58) the trial court entered an order granting David's cost motion (in part) and denying Massey's renewed motion for fees and costs. (App. 9; V3:469-471.) The cost judgment on that order taxed Massey for almost \$100,000 in expert witness fees that are not authorized by §57.071(2). (App. 8; V3:475-76.) Massey appealed alleging *inter alia* it was error to declare §57.071(2) Fla. Stat. to be unconstitutional. The district court affirmed and

expressly accepted *Cort's* holding that §57.021(2) Fla. Stat. is unconstitutional. (App. 1.) The district court also denied Massey's appeal against the failure of the trial court to grant him relief required by this Court's precedents.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court and *Cort* erred to hold §57.071(2) Fla. Stat. to be unconstitutional. The district court also committed error to deny Massey's motions for costs and fees as required by this Court's precedential decisions in *Tampa Electric Co. v. Ferguson*, 118 So. 211 (Fla. 1928), *Ault v. Lohr*, 538 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1989), *Lassiter v. International Union of Operating Engineers*, 349 So.2d 622, 626(Fla. 1977), and *United States Savings Bank v. Pittman*, 86 So. 567 (Fla. 1920).

§57.071(2) Fla. Stat. provides in part:³

Expert witness fees may not be awarded as taxable costs unless. . .

³ §57.071(2):

Expert witness fees may not be awarded as taxable costs unless the party retaining the expert witness furnishes each opposing party with a written report signed by the expert witness which summarizes the expert witness's opinions and the factual basis of the opinions, including documentary evidence and the authorities relied upon in reaching the opinions. Such report shall be filed at least 5 days prior to the deposition of the expert or at least 20 days prior to discovery cutoff, whichever is sooner, or as otherwise determined by the court.

(Underlining supplied.) The "unless" is that expert witness fees are awardable as costs only if written reports are made available to the opposing party within a stated time. It is undisputed that David did not comply with the requirements of the statute. Although the trial court was bound to follow the *Cort* declaration that \$57.071(2) is unconstitutional, the district court was not so bound and erred to endorse the *Cort* holding.

Cort and the decision below are in error. The operational portion of §57.071(2) -- "Expert witness costs may not be awarded unless" -- is plainly substantive on its face. The "unless" condition merely defines which expert costs may be taxed and does not attempt to prescribe how, when, where, which, or whether expert testimony must be obtained or used in the courts. This statute merely adds an additional condition on the substantive entitlement to costs to the "shall have testified" condition in §92.231 Fla. Stat. that the courts have uniformly acknowledged to be substantive. The time prescription in §57.071(2) works exactly as time prescriptions in statutes of limitations work: they prescribe the conditions that must be satisfied to create the substantive right to recover and have nothing to do with court practices and procedures to enforce the right. On this ground alone David's cost judgment must be reversed and remanded to remove unauthorized costs.

The trial judge and the district court also erred to deny Massey's motions for fees and costs. The Phase I liability jury found that David had been negligent and breached his fiduciary duties and that those wrongful acts were "a legal cause of damage to Massey." (App. 4.) The jury thus found that David wrongly invaded Massey's established legal rights and caused him to suffer damages. Under this Court's precedents in *Tampa Electric Company v. Ferguson*, 118 So.2d 211 (Fla. 1928); *Ault v. Lohr*, 538 So.2d 454 (Fla. 1989); and *Lassiter v. International Union of Operating Engineers*, 349 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1977), such a verdict mandates the trial court to enter judgment for Massey for not less than nominal damages even if he proved no actual compensatory damages. Accordingly, Massey was entitled to a judgment for not less than nominal damages and taxable costs.

Finally, the trial court erred when it denied Massey's motion for attorney fees. In this case, the unauthorized wrongful acts of David, a faithless lawyer, caused his client Massey to suffer legal damage and to incur massive litigation costs and fees to rectify the damage. In indistinguishable circumstances, this Court has held that a judgment must be entered against such a faithless lawyer to defray the costs of undoing the harm caused by similar wrongful acts. *United States Savings Bank v. Pittman*, 86 So.2d 567 (Fla. 1920). Because Massey proved all the elements that entitle him to a judgment for fees under *Pittman*, the district court

erred not to direct the trial court to award it.

ARGUMENT

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

A. ISSUE ONE. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR TO DECLARE §57.071 FLA. STAT. UNCONSTITUTIONAL?

Standard of Review. The trial court entered a final judgment that was predicated in part on a declaration that §57.071(2) Fla. Stat.⁴ is unconstitutional because it violates the Court's exclusive Article V §2(a) powers to prescribe rules of practice and procedure in the courts. The district court affirmed. The standard of review is *de novo*. *Bush v. Schiavo*, 885 So.2d 321, 329 (Fla. 2004).

Merits. Massey filed numerous objections to certain items claimed in David's Motion to Tax Costs. (V2:356-367; V3:445-458) Among them was objection to certain expert witness fees not authorized by §57.071(2) Fla. Stat. Specifically, David *did not provide* Massey "with a written report signed by the expert witness which summarizes the expert witness's opinions and the factual

basis of the opinions" as prescribed for taxable costs in §57.071(2) Fla. Sta.

Massey was well aware that *Estate of Cort v. Broward County Sheriff*, 807 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) had declared §57.071(2) Fla. Sta. to be procedural in character and thus in violation of Article V §2(a) Florida Constitution. In the absence of a decision of this Court of any other district court to the contrary, Massey conceded that the trial court was bound to follow *Cort*. Nevertheless, Massey also submitted that *Cort* was incorrectly decided and argued that the district court of appeal should reject *Cort*, reverse the award, and remand to the trial court to remove costs unauthorized by §57.071(2).

Although the record otherwise established that David did not satisfy the cost requirements of §57.071(2) Fla. Stat., Massey filed an affidavit stating that the conditions had not been satisfied. (V3:454-458.) David has not refuted this. Massey requested the trial court to make a finding that the expert witness fees did not comply with §57.071(2), but the court's initial order contained no such a finding. Massey moved for rehearing and requested the trial court to make that finding. (V3:475-480.) David objected to the rehearing motion (V3:482-484) and the trial court denied it. (V3:481.) The appeal to the district court ensued and the district court adopting the *Cort* decision and affirmed. This is error.

⁴See n. 3.

Cort correctly acknowledged that the prescription of what is a taxable cost is a matter of substance and within the power of the Legislature to prescribe. *Id.*, at 738. See also, *Higgs v. Klock*, 873 So.2d 591 (Fla. 2004). As this Court stated in *Board of County Com'rs, Pinellas County v. Sawyer*, 620 So.2d 757, 758 (Fla. 1993):

Common law provided no mechanism whereby one party could be charged with the costs of the other. Cost provisions are a creature of statute and must be carefully construed.

Furthermore, that an enactment of the Legislature comes into court with a heavy presumption of constitutionality is axiomatic. *Leapai v. Milton*, 595 So.2d 12, 14 (Fla.1992) ("We have consistently held that statutes should be construed to effectuate the express legislative intent and all doubt as to the validity of any statute should be resolved in favor of its constitutionality.") It is also axiomatic that the Florida Legislature has no power to make law within the exclusive rule-making authority of this Court prescribed by Article V §2(a) Florida Constitution. This then, requires this Court to ascertain whether the conditions prescribed by §57.071(2) are "practice or procedure" or substance.

⁵"(a)The supreme court shall adopt rules for the practice and procedure in all courts including the time for seeking appellate review....." Article V §2(a) Florida Constitution.

This Court explicated the legal standards that define the distinction between these two concepts as follows:

With regard to the constitutionality of [a statute], we must determine whether the statute concerns matters of substantive law, which is within the legislature's domain, or whether it concerns matters of practice and procedure, which this Court has the exclusive authority to regulate. *Markert* v. Johnson, 367 So.2d 1003 (Fla. 1978). Substantive law has been defined as that part of the law which creates, defines, and regulates rights, or that part of the law which courts are established to administer. It includes those rules and principles which fix and declare the primary rights of individuals with respect towards their persons and property. On the other hand, practice and procedure encompass the course, form, manner, means, method, mode, order, process or steps by which a party enforces substantive rights or obtains redress for their invasion. 'Practice and procedure' may be described as the machinery of the judicial process as opposed to the product thereof." It is the method of conducting litigation involving rights and corresponding defenses. (citations omitted). Substantive law creates substantive rights; rules of procedure, however, "merely provide the remedies to enforce rights." State v. Dorian, 619 So.2d 311, 313 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), quashed on other grounds, 642 So.2d 1359 (Fla.1994); see Birnholz v. 44 Wall St. Fund, Inc., 880 F.2d 335, 339 (11th Cir.1989) (finding that procedural rules are "legal machinery and not a fountain of legal rights").

Haven Federal Savings & Loan Ass'n v. Kirian, 579 So.2d 730, 732 (Fla.1991).

Haven Federal Savings Loan Ass'n correctly determined that a statute directing courts to sever counterclaims in certain actions is procedural and not substantive, thus rendering the statute unconstitutional. *Id.*, at 733. By contrast, this Court has plainly and repeatedly held that defining the entitlement to a cost award is a substantive matter to be prescribed by statute. See *e.g.*, *Timmons v*.

Combs, 606 So.2d 1, 3, 4 (Fla. 1992) ("In any event, in light of our ruling in Leapai v. Milton, it is clear that the circumstances under which a party is entitled to costs and attorney's fees is substantive and that our rule can only control procedural matters.") (Italics added.) Against this standard, Cort erroneously construed the conditions of §57.071(2) Fla. Stat. that prescribe which expenses may be taxed as costs to be a litigation procedure instead of what it truly is; namely, the definition of the substantive right. In relevant part, Cort stated:

We agree with Allstate's argument that section 57.071(2) is unconstitutional because, through it, the legislature creates or modifies a procedural rule of court:

A rule of procedure prescribes the method or order by which a party enforces substantive rights or obtains redress for their invasion. Substantive law creates those rights. Practice and procedure are the machinery of the judicial process as opposed to the product thereof.

Military Park Fire Control Tax Dist. No. 4 v. DeMarois, 407 So.2d 1020, 1021 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). . . .

More specifically, we find Allstate's reliance on *Knealing v. Puleo*, 675 So.2d 593 (Fla.1996), persuasive. In *Knealing*, the supreme court found section 44.102(6)(b), Florida Statutes (1993), which allows a party to make an offer of judgment after mediation ends, unconstitutional. *See id.* at 596. The court found that the statute did not expressly authorize an award of fees nor did it provide any other independent basis for awarding fees. *See id.* The court stated "[r]ather than providing for an award of fees, section 44.102(6) alters the time limits for making and accepting an offer of judgment." *Id.* Therefore, in finding the statute unconstitutional, the *Knealing* court was persuaded by section 44.102(6)'s failure to "create" a substantive right since section 768.79, Florida Statutes, already created the substantive right to

attorney's fees based on an offer of judgment. Likewise, here, section 57.071(2) does not create a right to recover expert witness fees, but rather sets forth the procedure for recovering under that right.

.... We recognize that the substantive right for recovery of an expert witness fee as a taxable cost finds its basis in statutory law and has existed since at least 1949. See § 90.231, Fla. Stat. (1949); § 92.231, Fla. Stat. (2000). Nevertheless, due to the purely procedural nature of section 57.071(2), we are compelled to find that it intrudes upon the powers of the judiciary, through the Florida Supreme Court, to determine matters of practice and procedure before the Florida courts. See Art. V, § 2(a), Fla. Const.

.....Moreover, Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.280(b)(4)(A) outlines the procedures for discovery of facts and opinions held by experts. There, no mention is made of having to file a report by the expert twenty days prior to the end of discovery or five days prior to the deposition of the expert.

Cort, at 807 So.2d 738. (Italics added.) The italicized portion of the quotation is plainly wrong; §57.071(2) prescribes a condition that must be satisfied to make a fee taxable but says nothing about procedure. In the last quoted paragraph Cort again failed to distinguish between a time limit on which reports may be used in court — which would be a procedural matter but is not involved in §57.071(2) — and a prescription as to which costs may be taxed — which is substance and is involved in §57.071(2).

Cort also misperceived the difference between the statutes involved in Knealing v. Puleo, 675 So.2d 593 (Fla.1996) and those involved herein. Knealing involved § 768.79 Fla. Stat.(1989) and §44.102(6) Fla. Stat. At the time Knealing

construed it, §768.79 read:

(1)(a) In any action to which this part applies, if a defendant files an offer of judgment which is not accepted by the plaintiff within 30 days, the defendant shall be entitled to recover reasonable costs and attorney's fees incurred from the date of filing of the offer if the judgment obtained by the plaintiff is at least 25 percent less than such offer....

Knealing, 675 So.2d at 594, fn. 4. And at that time §44.102(6) read:

- (6)(a) When an action is referred to mediation by court order, the time periods for responding to an offer of settlement pursuant to s. 45.061, or to an offer or demand for judgment pursuant to s. 768.79, respectively, shall be tolled until:
- 1. An impasse has been declared by the mediator; or
- 2. The mediator has reported to the court that no agreement was reached.
- (b) Sections 45.061 and 768.79 notwithstanding, an offer of settlement or an offer or demand for judgment may be made at any time after an impasse has been declared by the mediator, or the mediator has reported that no agreement was reached. An offer is deemed rejected as of commencement of trial.

Knealing, 657 So.2d at pp. 595,6.

A mere glance at §44.102(6) proves that it has no function other than to prescribe a procedure - namely the "time limits for making and accepting an offer of judgment." (By contrast, as shown below §57.071(2) Fla. Stat. plays no role at all in how, when, whether, or which expert testimony may be used to resolve a dispute. It merely defines *which* costs may be taxed.) In *Knealing* this Court succinctly described the constitutional deficiency in §44.102(6), as follows:

Rather than providing for an award of fees, section 44.102(6) alters the time limits for making and accepting an offer of judgment. Section 44.102(6)(a)

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