IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY MASSEY,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No.: SC07-776

Lower Case No.: 1D063657

CALVIN F. DAVID,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE CALVIN F. DAVID

On Appeal from the First District Court of Appeal

John A. DeVault, III
Florida Bar No. 103979
Courtney K. Grimm
Florida Bar No. 953740
BEDELL, DITTMAR, DeVAULT,
PILLANS & COXE, P.A.
The Bedell Building
101 East Adams Street
Jacksonville, Florida 32202
Telephone: (904) 353-0211
Facsimile: (904) 353-9307

-and-

John H. Pelzer Florida Bar No. 376647 RUDEN, McCLOSKY, SMITH, SCHUSTER

RUSSELL, P.A. 200 East Broward Boulevard Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone: (954) 674-6660

Facsimile: (954) 764-4996

&

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

- 5) The sworn deposition testimony given by Dr. Robert Laureno in the underlying case which fully set forth the opinions he was to render in the Phase II trial;
- 6) The sworn deposition testimony of Mr. John Spencer in the underlying case which fully set forth the opinions he was to give in the Phase II trial; and
- 7) The sworn testimony given by Dr. Guzelian at the scientific inquiry or $\underline{\text{Frye}}$ hearing held prior to the scheduled November 1995 trial.²

Thus, Massey received much more in the discovery process than is required by the statute of which he seeks to take advantage. At no time during discovery did Massey's attorney claim the information with respect to the expert witnesses was insufficient, that the responses to expert interrogatories were incomplete, or that he needed additional information. With these materials in hand well prior to the Phase II trial, Massey's attorney

Although not part of the record on appeal, Massey acknowledges in pleadings that are a part of the record on appeal that he had copies of Laureno, Spencer and Guzelian's prior testimony. (See R2. 360, 361, 362; PR35. 6436).

chose not to further depose any of David's expert witnesses.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant Gary Massey attempts to bootstrap his contention (rejected twice by the district court), that he (the losing party in this decade-long legal malpractice case) is entitled to recover attorneys fees and costs from the prevailing party, to the district court's dicta or alternative holding. The district court's opinion simply cites with approval a prior district court's holding as to the constitutionality of section 57.071(2), Florida Statutes.

Because the district court has not "declared" a statute invalid, as required by article V, section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution, the appeal should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction. Should the Court consider the merits of the appeal, the decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, in Estate of Cort v. Broward County Sheriff, 807 So.2d 736 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), correctly determined that section 57.071(2) was unconstitutional as it infringed on this Court's rule-making authority.

Likewise Massey's Issue Two - that the courts below should have issued a judgment in his favor following the verdict in Phase I and thereafter awarded him fees and costs - is not properly before this Court. This issue was raised before, and rejected by, the panel of the district court considering Massey's main appeal, which entered a per curium affirmance from which Massey did not (and could not) seek discretionary review in this Court. Massey v. David, 953 So.2d 599, 603 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007). Again, should the Court consider the merits of the issue, it is readily disposed of by the on-point decision in Sure Snap Corp. v. Baena, 705 So.2d 46 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997), discussed at length, and relied on by the district court in its opinion below. Id.

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE THE OPINION BELOW DOES NOT DECLARE A STATE STATUTE INVALID.

Contrary to Massey's contention, the district court below did not declare a state statute unconstitutional, and thus this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal.

This Court has strictly construed the limits of its constitutional jurisdiction. Gandy v. State, 846 So.2d 1141, 1143 (Fla. 2003) ("'The jurisdiction of this Court extends only to the narrow class of cases enumerated in Article V, Section 3(b) of the Florida Constitution.'") (quoting Mystan Marine, Inc. v. Harrington, 339 So.2d 200, 201 (Fla. 1976) ("Time and again we have noted the limitations on our review and we have refused to become a court of select errors.") (footnote omitted)); see, e.g., Byrd v. State, 880 So.2d 616 (Fla. 2004) (dismissing appeal from decision declaring invalid a state statute where opinion signed by only one judge with other two judges concurring in the result).

In the instant case, the district court did not "declare" a statutory provision unconstitutional, as article V requires as a predicate for appeal jurisdiction, because the trial court never addressed the issue. The district court simply observed by way of dicta, or at best as an alternative holding, that had the trial judge addressed the constitutional issue and ruled consistent with the Fourth District's opinion in Cort that the statute was unconstitutional, he would have been correct. Massey, 953 So.2d at 602.

The trial court did not make a determination that section 57.071(2) was unconstitutional. (See R3. 469-71, 481). Indeed, nothing exists in the record to show that the trial court considered the constitutionality of section 57.071(2) or impliedly found the statute unconstitutional.³ (R4. 1-59; R6. 69-97). Massey, in his own motions for rehearing, did not request the court make a finding that section 57.071(2) was unconstitutional. (R3. 475-76, 477). Instead, as conceded by Massey, the

Through expert disclosures, answers to interrogatories, and affidavit and sworn deposition testimony, the statutory requirements were essentially met.

trial court followed the current state of the law. Mercury Ins. Co. of Fla. v. Coatney, 910 So.2d 925, 926 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005) ("In the absence of a supreme court decision on point, the trial court is bound to follow decisions of the district courts of appeal, and where there is no decision on point from the district court for the subject circuit, the trial court is bound to follow precedents of other district courts of appeal."), review denied, 924 So.2d 809 (Fla. 2006). As the trial court did not expressly nor impliedly make a determination as to the constitutionality of section 57.071(2), Massey's argument was not properly before the district court. Fleming v. Peoples First Fin. Sav. & Loan Ass'n, 667 So.2d 273, 274 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) (in absence of a trial court decision, there is nothing for appellate court to review); see also Chipola Nurseries, Inc. v. Div. of Admin., State Dep't of Transp., 335 So.2d 617, 619 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976). Likewise it is not properly before this Court on appeal.

The district court's primary holding with respect to whether expert fees were properly awarded as taxable costs, was that the trial judge did not address the issue

of the constitutionality of section 57.071(2), Florida Statutes.

Massey mentioned the statute in his written objections, conceding that the trial court had to follow the decision in Estate of Cort v. Broward County Sheriff, 807 So.2d 736 (Fla. 4th DCA which 2002), held the statute unconstitutional. Nothing, however, indicates the trial court specifically considered this statute in awarding At no point during costs to David. the hearing or in the order on appeal did the trial court mention Cort or section 57.071(2); nor did the court make any findings relating to the provisions of the statute, such as the furnishing of written reports to the opposing party, the filing of such reports, and the timing of filings.

Massey, 953 So.2d at 602.

Alternatively, the district court noted 1) that if the trial court did consider Estate of Cort v. Broward County Sheriff, 807 So.2d 736 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), the "court did not err in following that decision as it stands as the only appellate decision addressing this issue," Massey, 953 So.2d at 602; 2) the decision of the Fourth District in Cort was correct since "section 57.071(2) does not create a right to recover expert

witness fees, but rather sets forth the procedure for recovering under that right," <u>id.</u> (quoting <u>Cort</u>, 807 So.2d at 738); and finally, 3) that even if, as urged by Massey, the statute is substantive, it would not apply since it was added in 1999, well after the cause of action arose. Id.

The appeal should be dismissed pursuant to this Court's holding in Hanft v. Phelan, 488 So.2d 531, 532 (Fla. 1986):

Article V, section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution, provides, inter alia, this Court "shall hear appeals . . . from decisions district courts of appeal declaring invalid a state statute or a provision of the state constitution." We find that by ruling in the alternative, and remanding for a factual determination below, the district court has not declared a state statute invalid as article V, section 3(b)(1)contemplates. Accordingly, the appeal is dismissed.

Accordingly, since the decision of the district court did not "declar[e] invalid a state statute" as required for appeal jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(1), but simply agreed, as an alternative basis to support its holding, that a prior opinion of

another district court was correct, the appeal should be dismissed.

II. ALTERNATIVELY, § 57.071(2) IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS A PROCEDURAL STATUTE INFRINGING ON THIS COURT'S RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY.

Should the Court address Massey's argument on appeal, the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Cort correctly determined that section 57.071(2) is unconstitutional as infringing on the rule-making authority of this Court and thus the trial court's award of expert witness fees was not barred by section 57.071(2). Cort, 807 So.2d at 738.

In holding section 57.071(2) unconstitutional, the Cort court held that section 57.071(2) did not create a right to recover expert witness fees, but rather set forth the procedure for recovering under that right. Id. The court noted that the substantive right for recovery of an expert witness fee as a taxable cost finds its basis in statutory law, § 92.231, Fla. Stat., and has existed since at least 1949. § 90.231, Fla. Stat. (1949); Cort, 807 So.2d at 738. The court further noted that the Uniform Guidelines for Taxation of Costs in

Civil Actions, adopted by the Florida Conference Circuit Judges and published by this Court, discuss at length the taxation of costs for expert witness fees and set forth no deadlines or requirements such as those contained in section 57.071(2). Id. at Likewise, the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, although containing the procedure for discovery of facts and opinions held by experts, do not mention any deadlines or requirements as those set forth in section 57.071(2). Id. at 739. Lastly, the court noted that the legislature requested, in the note accompanying section 57.071, that the requirements of section 57.071(2) be adopted as a rule if it is determined that any provision of the statute improperly encroaches upon the authority of the Florida Supreme Court. 4 Id. & n.2.

Despite the legislature's request and the <u>Cort</u> decision in 2002, which created the opportunity for this Court to incorporate the procedural requirements of section 57.071(2) into the rules, the recently revised Uniform Guidelines make no mention of these requirements, nor do the recent Amendments to the Rules of Civil Procedure. Fla. R. Civ. P. app. II (Statewide Uniform Guidelines for Taxation of Costs); <u>In re Amendments to the Fla. Rules of Civil Procedure</u>, 917 So.2d 176 (Fla. 2005).

In reaching its conclusion, the Fourth District Court of Appeal found this Court's decision in Knealing
v. Puleo, 675 So.2d 593 (Fla. 1996), persuasive:

In Knealing, the supreme court found section 44.102(6)(b), Florida Statutes (1993), which allows a party to make an offer of judgment after mediation ends, unconstitutional. The found that the statute did not expressly authorize an award of fees provide did it any independent basis for awarding fees. stated "[r]ather court providing for an award of fees, section 44.102(6) alters the time limits for making and accepting an offer of judgment." Therefore, in finding the statute unconstitutional, the Knealing court was persuaded by section 44.102(6)'s failure "create" a substantive right since section 768.79, Florida Statutes, already created the substantive right to attorney's fees based on an offer of judgment.

Cort, 807 So.2d at 738 (citations omitted).

Massey asserts that the <u>Cort</u> court's reliance on <u>Knealing</u> is misplaced and that section 57.071(2) does not set forth procedural requirements, but merely provides additional substantive rights to be read in conjunction with section 92.231, Florida Statutes. (Amended Br. at 11-16). In support of his assertion, Massey contends

that the difference between the statutes involved in Knealing and those involved in the instant matter were misperceived by the Cort court. The Cort court's analysis, however, is directly on point. Section 57.071(2) does not expressly authorize the right to recover expert witness fees nor provide any other independent basis for recovery, just section as 44.102(6)(b) was found by this Court not to expressly authorize an award of fees nor provide any other independent basis for awarding fees. Knealing, 675 So.2d at 596. Instead, section 57.071(2) alters the procedure for perfecting the substantive right for recovery of expert witness fees as taxable costs authorized section 92.231(2), by imposing time requirements for the furnishing and filing of expert reports, requirements ultimately determine whether one is entitled to recover under that right. As the district court recently noted in Williams v. State, 932 So.2d 1233, 1236-37 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006) (quoting Haven Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass'n v. Kirian, 579 So.2d 730, 732 (Fla. 1991)), "practice and procedure 'encompass the course, form, manner, means, method, mode, order, process or steps by

which a party enforces substantive rights or obtains redress for their invasion.'" Section 57.071(2) sets forth the manner, process or steps - the procedure - for recovering under the already created substantive right for recovery. Knealing, 675 So.2d 596; Cort, 807 So.2d at 738.

Moreover, section 57.071(2) cannot be construed as a substantive right merely "adding to" section 92.231. Section 92.231 created the substantive right for recovery of fees of testifying experts as costs. Section 57.071(2) does not expressly authorize an award of costs, but attempts to assert procedural limitations on the recovery by imposing disclosure and time requirements. Section 57.071(2) clearly alters the manner and steps by which one can recover expert witness fees and, as such, alters the procedure for recovery. Section 57.071(2) was correctly found by the Cort court as unconstitutional.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO DIRECT ENTRY OF A JUDGMENT FOR MASSEY ON THE PHASE I VERDICT AND NOT AWARDING MASSEY FEES AND COSTS.

Standard of Review

An order granting or denying attorney fees and costs

is reviewed on the abuse of discretion standard. <u>E & A</u>

<u>Produce Corp. v. Superior Garlic Int'l, Inc.</u>, 864 So.2d

449, 451 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003); <u>Goslin v. Racal Data</u>

<u>Communications, Inc.</u>, 468 So.2d 390, 392 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

Appellant mistakenly asserts that the standard of review is de novo, citing Rittman v. Allstate Ins. Co., 727 So.2d 391, 393 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999). The Rittman case, however, did not involve a motion for fees and costs, but instead addressed the propriety of an order staying the judicial proceedings pending arbitration, a pure issue of law, which the appellate court reviewed de novo.

A. The district court was correct in not directing entry of judgment for Massey on the Phase I verdict.

As the district court correctly recognized, this issue was not properly before it on the cost appeal since it had already been decided adverse to Massey on his main appeal. Likewise, it is not properly before this Court. The district court stated:

In his third point, Massey argues the trial court should have entered

judgment for him following the Phase I trial, in which he prevailed, and pursuant to such judgment, awarded him fees and costs for the Phase I trial. The panel considering the main appeal in this case essentially decided this issue when it affirmed the judgment for David.

Massey, 953 So.2d at 603.

Nevertheless, if the Court should consider Massey's argument, Massey was not the prevailing party in the action and, as such, was not entitled to entry of a judgment in his favor.

As the district court recognized, <u>Sure Snap Corp. v.</u>

<u>Baena</u>, 705 So.2d 46 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997), is directly on point.

Thus, Sure Snap involves virtually the same general factual scenario as this accordingly, the and, reasoning applies. As in Sure Snap, jury (in Phase II) ultimately returned a verdict awarding damages. Therefore, Massey did not satisfy the third element of the legal malpractice claim-David's actions did not cause Massey to suffer any injury. Accordingly, the court properly entered a final judgment in favor of at the conclusion David of the proceeding, and Massey was not entitled to costs.

Massey, 953 So.2d at 603.

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